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A. INTRODUCTION 

 In spring 2020, as millions of Americans protested systemic racism, 

the Justices published a letter vowing to “make just decisions in individual 

cases” and to apply the Court’s authority “in a way that brings greater racial 

justice to our system as a whole.” App. 25–26. Since then, the Court has 

agreed to review a case involving anti-Black bias in a civil jury trial. But 

the Court has not, to petitioner’s knowledge, granted review of a case under 

the Washington Law Against Discrimination (“WLAD”), RCW 49.60. 

 It should do so now. Division I’s decision resurrects an old “good 

faith” defense for employers, and it discounts the relevance of the proximity 

in time between an employee’s anti-racist opposition activity and job 

termination. It clashes with the “substantial factor” standard for a jury to 

find unlawful discrimination or retaliation—a standard which this Court 

recently held is applicable not just at trial, but also on summary judgment. 

 But more is at stake than a legal standard. Department of Corrections 

(“DOC”) whistleblowers have come forward about racism pushing out 

Black corrections officers. They say DOC decision-makers have responded 

insufficiently to remedy this workplace discrimination, even perpetuating 

it. Rooting out discrimination everywhere is urgent, but especially within 

DOC institutions, where a disproportionate percentage of the inmate 

population is Black. Black inmates, once in DOC custody, are treated worse 
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than white inmates. Unless DOC welcomes people of all races to serve as 

officers, Washington risks further “devaluing black lives.” App. 25. 

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

 Petitioner Abubaccar Waggeh was the plaintiff and the appellant 

below. A Black man, he was as a DOC corrections officer. CP 121, 661. 

C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

 Division I’s unpublished opinion is reproduced in the appendix 

(“App.”) at 1–23, and the order denying reconsideration at App. 24. 

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

 1. Whether an employer may be liable for employment 
discrimination (RCW 49.60.180) or retaliation (RCW 49.60.210) when the 
employer knew or should have known that accusations that an employee 
committed misconduct were false, exaggerated, or tainted by illicit motives. 

 2. Whether close proximity in time between an employee’s 
protected opposition activity and an employer’s firing decision suffices to 
create a jury question under the “substantial factor” standard for retaliation. 

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 The problem of racism against Black corrections officers has been a 

long-standing problem, according to reports1 and this case’s evidence. 

Some years ago, for example, the Washington State Patrol investigated 

white supremacism among correctional officers at the Washington State 

 
 1 Jennifer Vogel, “White Guard Black Guard,” Seattle Weekly (Oct. 9, 2006); AP, 
“Prison Staff Face Probe for Alleged Racist Remarks Two Corrections Officers Disciplined 
at Shelton Facility,” Spokesman-Review (Aug. 23, 1997), https://www.spokesman.com/ 
stories/1997/aug/23/prison-staff-face-probe-for-alleged-racist/. 
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Corrections Center in Shelton. Two officers were suspended, and the State 

Patrol found racial division among staff. Id. Around that time at the Clallam 

Bay Corrections Center, white corrections officers told their black co-

workers that “N*****s aren’t allowed here.” Id. Besides these facilities, 

“[c]omplaints of racism have come from points all over the state.” Id. In 

fact, DOC has paid out many employment discrimination claims. Id. 

Between 2008 and 2015, when Waggeh was a DOC corrections officer, 58 

DOC employees sued DOC for discrimination or retaliation. CP 161.  

 A Black sergeant and supervisor at the Monroe Correctional 

Complex (“MCC”) recently detailed the racism and retaliation plaguing the 

MCC. CP 154–57. “I have observed racism and sexism at Monroe for many 

years,” attests Sergeant Melvin Hopkins, who knew Waggeh. CP 107, 154. 

“The leaders in upper management at Monroe in 2015, even at the highest 

levels, knew there was lots of racism and sexism there,” says Sergeant 

Hopkins, “but they didn’t do anything about it.” CP 155. He explains, “If 

the good old boys didn’t want you around, they often tried to make you 

miserable enough that you would want to quit.” Id. He recalls another Black 

officer who was “outstanding” but “was constantly being targeted by white 

supervisors.” CP 156. “Because the racism works so well for the managers 

who want to get rid of the African Americans,” it persists. Id. 

 Waggeh, who was born in Africa, worked as a corrections officer at 
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the MCC, primarily in the minimum security unit’s visitors’ room, between 

2008 and 2015. CP 121, 661. Another officer, H.M., who worked with him 

in the visitors’ room, described Waggeh as “cheerful” and “always 

courteous.” CP 159. But not everyone had the same reaction to Waggeh. 

Waggeh recounts, for example, that a white fellow officer once told Waggeh 

that he “always acted like I knew everything,” referring to Waggeh’s 

knowledge of DOC policies and procedures.2 CP 125. 

 Less than a year after he started, Waggeh emailed a sergeant to 

oppose shift changes and to object to the sergeant’s admonition that Waggeh 

had “poor judgement.” CP 252. Waggeh emailed, “I think you [are] doing 

this to me because [I] am black.” CP 252. His email criticized the MCC’s 

“good ol’ boy system” and told his supervisors that he would not let them 

“use [their] position to bully” him. CP 253. Waggeh later filed a union 

grievance alleging discrimination in another matter too. CP 591.  

 Waggeh admits that, after sending this email, he “was repeatedly 

accused” of misconduct and disciplined with reprimands, pay reductions, 

and cuts in work hours, but he insists the accusations were false. CP 122, 

255–382, 662; Appellant’s Reply Br. at 4–7. Sergeants called him 

“unprofessional,” “insubordinate,” and “disrespectful,” and claimed that 

 
 2 See generally, Elspeth Reeve, “Yep, ‘Uppity’ Is Racist,” The Atlantic (Nov. 
22, 2011), https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2011/11/yep-uppity-
racist/335160/. 
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Waggeh violated a protocol in the visitors’ room. CP 258, 296. Sergeants 

soon claimed also that Waggeh was “standing around not doing anything” 

and arriving late “quite frequently.” CP 290, 292. DOC alleged he had 

driven a DOC-owned van for personal use. CP 122, 255. But he had not; he 

had driven it at a sergeant’s request to perform an official task. CP 122.  

 Inmates got in on the act. In 2011, inmate B.J. accused Waggeh of 

behaving inappropriately toward B.J.’s girlfriend. CP 124, 163. As Waggeh 

pointed out later, some inmates “often have motivations to stir up trouble 

for an officer they don’t like or often for an officer they perceive is not liked 

for one reason or another by DOC supervisory officers.” CP 123–24. In fact, 

B.J. made the allegation only after DOC confronted him about a recorded 

phone call between B.J. and his girlfriend arranging for her to smuggle in 

marijuana to the MCC. CP 163. Once confronted, this innate claimed that 

“[s]kinheads are running most everything and don’t want the blacks to have 

anything.” CP 163. Despite skinheads supposedly running the drug ring, 

B.J. alleged Waggeh (again, a Black man) was allowing drugs in. CP 164.  

 Soon after B.J.’s claims about Waggeh, DOC officers searched 

Waggeh’s car in the MCC parking lot, claiming that a drug-sniffing dog had 

“alerted.” CP 124, 280–85, 585. But they found no drugs. Id. Still, the 

officers told their co-worker that he was “high.” CP 124. He agreed to take 

a drug test at a nearby hospital, which found he had no drugs in his system. 
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Id. Back at the MCC, Waggeh’s fellow officers treated him like he was 

drunk, offered him a ride home, and said they would call the police if he 

drove home on his own. Id. All this played out in the parking lot where 

inmates and visitors could see. Id. It was, Waggeh says, “humiliating.” Id. 

 DOC investigated the accusations that Waggeh treated inmates’ 

female visitors inappropriately but none, at the time, were found credible. 

CP 124, 591–92. Then, in late 2014, another inmate accused Waggeh of 

flirting with the inmate’s female visitor and asking for the woman’s phone 

number. CP 151, 373–74. But when DOC asked the woman, she said 

Waggeh had not acted inappropriately and that she had asked for his phone 

number, not the other way around, because her profession was network 

marketing. CP 152. H.M., Waggeh’s coworker, said he had “not witnessed 

or seen CO Waggeh harass any offender or their family member.” CP 159. 

 Still, DOC re-opened B.J.’s previously discredited claims that 

Waggeh had slept with a female who was in DOC community custody at 

the time. CP 318–20, 352–55. The woman, M.G., told a DOC investigator 

that Waggeh had gone on a date with her and had sex with her. CP 443–46. 

But Waggeh denied it, CP 323, and discrepancies marked her unsworn 

testimony. She said Waggeh had tattoos; Waggeh later showed the DOC 

investigator that he did not. CP 141, 433, 435. The “witnesses’” timeline 

was impossible. CP 148, 320–22, 444; Appellant’s Br. at 14. As DOC’s 
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investigation went on, Waggeh filed a discrimination grievance with his 

union and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”), 

which Superintendent Daniel White knew about. CP 59. Soon after, White 

fired him, citing the M.G. matter. CP 537–44. Her allegations, if true, would 

have been a felony disqualifying Waggeh from working at DOC. Yet DOC 

later offered Waggeh his job back (he declined). CP 146, 166–69. 

  After DOC fired him, Waggeh applied for unemployment benefits, 

and an administrative law judge (“ALJ”) rejected DOC’s claim that Waggeh 

committed misconduct. CP 145–49. Although DOC’s White presented at 

the hearing, the ALJ was not persuaded. CP 145. The ALJ emphasized that 

“the timeline does not coincide regarding [] the alleged incidents.” CP 148. 

 Waggeh sued DOC for discrimination and retaliation, but the trial 

court granted summary judgment for the defense before the appointed jury 

trial. CP 88–85, 757–71. The court then denied reconsideration. CP 26–28. 

 Division I affirmed. App. 1–23. The court relied on Domingo v. 

Boeing Emp. Credit Union, 124 Wn. App. 71, 98 P.3d 1222 (2004)—a 

decision which pre-dated Scrivener v. Clark Coll., 181 Wn.2d 439, 444, 334 

P.3d 541 (2014), and which this Court criticized in in Mikkelsen v. Pub. 

Util. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas Cty., 189 Wn.2d 516, 404 P.3d 464 (2017)—and 

held that DOC was not liable because it had “in good faith, believe[d] that 

[Waggeh] had engaged in the misconduct.” App. 18–20. Division I 
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acknowledged “the inconsistencies in the reporting witnesses’ statements.” 

App. 20. But the court looked at “the context of the investigation as a 

whole” and opined that the inconsistencies “do not preclude a good faith 

belief that Waggeh engaged in misconduct.” Id.  (emphasis added). While 

the record did not preclude a jury finding of good faith, Division I did not 

inquire whether the record would compel a jury to make that finding. Id.  

 Division I failed to ask other questions. The court did not ask 

whether, even if DOC truly believed Waggeh committed misconduct, a jury 

could find that retaliation or Waggeh’s race was nevertheless a substantial 

factor in DOC’s decision. App. 17–21. Division I also did not address the 

proximity in time between Waggeh’s complaint to the EEOC and his firing, 

nor did the court mention Waggeh’s earlier complaints. Id. Division I also 

did not ask whether DOC’s decision was unlawfully tainted, even if White 

had acted in good faith, by the false accusations of Waggeh’s superiors, co-

workers, and current and former inmates. Id. The court did not consider 

whether, given the ALJ’s finding, a reasonable jury could find the same. 

App. 17–21. After affirming, Division I denied reconsideration. App. 24.  

F. ARGUMENT 

(1) Racial Discrimination and Unlawful Retaliation Against 
Black DOC Corrections Officers Is an Urgent Issue 

 An especially compelling reason for review is to consider the 

troubling reports of racism in a critical state agency. RAP 13.4(b)(4). As 



Petition for Review - 9 

 

WLAD says, discrimination is “a matter of state concern.” RCW 49.60.010. 

Racism, the Legislature has found, “threatens … the rights and proper 

privileges of [Washington’s] inhabitants” and “menaces the institutions and 

foundation of a free democratic state.” Id. The urgency has only increased 

as the legal community awakens to a harsh reality—“the injustices faced by 

black Americans are not relics of the past.” App. 25. Eradicating racism in 

employment is especially urgent within this state’s law enforcement 

agencies. But nearly four decades have passed since this Court reviewed a 

WLAD claim against such an agency. Franklin Cty. Sheriff’s Office v. 

Sellers, 97 Wn.2d 317, 646 P.2d 113 (1982). The time has come again.  

 And it is this Court’s role. Of course, the judiciary lacks power to 

mandate how executive officers perform their discretionary duties in “[t]he 

administration of correctional institutions.” Colvin v. Inslee, 195 Wn.2d 

879, 897–98, 467 P.3d 953 (2020). But the judiciary and the executive 

branches “must remain intertwined … to maintain an effective system of 

checks and balances” and to ensure the public is served by “an effective 

government.” Carrick v. Locke, 125 Wn.2d 129, 135, 882 P.2d 173 (1994) 

(citation omitted). The constitution empowers the judiciary “to say what the 

law is,” Colvin, 195 Wn.2d at 898, and nothing entitles executive officials 

to flout the law. So this Court has the power—and responsibility—to review 

whether DOC’s employment decisions comply with WLAD. 
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 DOC administrators appear to have left unchecked, and even 

perpetrated, racism in DOC workplaces. CP 125, 154–57, 161; Vogel, supra 

n.1. Since the State Patrol’s investigation, Black DOC officers and 

supervisors have continued to witness and experience racism. CP 125, 154–

57, 161. Indeed, Sergeant Hopkins observed the same “good old boys” 

problem that Waggeh identified when he first complained about 

discrimination in 2008. CP 155, 253. Sergeant Hopkins described a pattern 

of behavior—targeting Black officers—that pushed out another Black 

officer too. CP 154–57. This alarming report warrants urgent attention. 

 Racism in DOC’s firing decisions is a significant problem not just 

for DOC employees, but for Black inmates. Nearly 18% of inmates are 

Black, while only about 5% of the state’s general population is. Once in 

DOC facilities, Black inmates receive worse treatment: A DOC study found 

racial disparities in offender work programs, in custody levels, and in prison 

infractions.3 From this data, a fair conclusion is that Black inmates suffer 

“systemic injustice,” perhaps from the “conscious and unconscious biases,” 

App. 25, of corrections officers—a rank composed of disproportionately 

fewer Black men and women than in the prison population. See DOC, supra 

 
 3 DOC, Fact Card (Sept. 30, 2020), available at  
https://www.doc.wa.gov/docs/publications/reports/100-QA001.pdf (last accessed Dec. 14, 
2020); U.S. Census Bureau, QuickFacts: Washington, 
https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/WA; DOC, Policy Review: Racial Disparity,  
https://www.doc.wa.gov/docs/publications/reports/200-SR001.pdf. 
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n.3. The danger is “systemic oppression of black Americans.” App. 25. 

(2) Division I’s Decision Conflicts with the Allison–Mackay 
“Substantial Factor” Test and with Cornwell 

 While that festering problem alone justifies review, this case also 

presents inconsistences in Washington anti-discrimination law. RAP 

13.4(b)(1). Review is warranted on this additional ground. 

(a) Division I’s “Good Faith” Standard Clashes with the 
“Substantial Factor” Test 

 Division I’s good-faith standard does not reconcile with a 

fundamental element of WLAD—the liberal “substantial factor” standard 

for finding a causal link between an adverse employment action and the 

employee’s race or opposition activity. In RCW 49.60.180(2), WLAD 

prohibits employers from firing an employee “because of” race. In RCW 

49.60.210(1), it bars employers from firing an employee “because” the 

employee opposed discrimination. While the word “because” in these 

provisions might suggest a strict “but for” causation standard, that narrow 

reading has long been discarded. In Allison v. Housing Authority of City of 

Seattle, 118 Wn.2d 79, 85–86, 821 P.2d 34 (1991), this Court concluded 

that a “but for” causation for retaliation claims would impose “too harsh a 

burden” and could “encourage employers to fabricate pretexts to discharge 

employees who have brought discrimination claims or testified against their 

employers.” Id. at 95. To better support WLAD’s purposes, this Court 
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fashioned the “substantial factor” test, importing it from tort law’s multiple-

causation cases. Id. A multi-causation test should apply to retaliation 

claims, this Court explained, because it holds employers accountable when 

both “legitimate and illegitimate motives … lurk.” Id. After Allison, in 

Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc., 127 Wn.2d 302, 306–07, 310, 898 

P.2d 284 (1995), this Court confirmed that the same test applies not just to 

retaliation claims, but also to discrimination claims under RCW 49.60.180.  

 Division I’s “good faith” standard clashes with this Allison–Mackay 

test. RAP 13.4(b)(1). A “good faith” test prevents a jury from considering 

whether an illegitimate reason accompanied any legitimate reasons for an 

employer’s action. To be a substantial factor, the employee’s race or 

opposition activity need not be the only reason, or even “the main reason.” 

WPI 330.01.01, cited with approval in Scrivener, 181 Wn.2d at 444; 

Currier v. Northland Servs., Inc., 182 Wn. App. 733, 746, 332 P.3d 1006 

(2014), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1006 (2015). An illegitimate reason need 

only “tip[] the scales.” Id. (quotation omitted). But that liberal test would 

become a nullity if an employer could avoid liability by pointing to its good-

faith belief in a legitimate reason. Under Allison–Mackay, having a 

legitimate reason is only the start—not the end—of the analysis. 

 Scrivener further exposes the rupture that Division I has created in 

Washington anti-discrimination law. Before Scrivener, when the Court of 
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Appeals applied the well-known McDonnell Douglas framework on 

summary judgment, the lower court required employees to disprove their 

employer’s stated legitimate reason for its action. This Court rejected that 

view as incompatible with Allison–Mackay, affirming that “[a]n employer 

may be motivated by multiple purposes, both legitimate and illegitimate, 

when making employment decisions and still be liable under the WLAD.” 

181 Wn.2d at 447. Thus, even if employees admit or cannot prove the 

pretext behind their employer’s stated legitimate reason, summary 

judgment is not appropriate if a jury could find that “discrimination 

nevertheless was a substantial factor motivating the employer.” Id. at 448.  

 While Division I mentioned this rule in passing, App. 17, the court 

did not apply it, nor did the court inquire whether the “good faith” standard 

from Domingo, 124 Wn. App. 71 was still good law. App. 17–21. Domingo 

was not only abrogated on another ground in Mikkelsen, 189 Wn.2d 516, 

but it also exhibited the same error that Scrivener held was a fatal flaw in a 

Division II case. Scrivener, 334 Wn.2d at 448. Namely, Domingo omitted 

the possibility that a “substantial factor” is enough to satisfy the McDonnell 

Douglas framework’s third step. 124 Wn. App. at 88. 

 Division I’s decision undercuts Allison–Mackay, as expanded by 

Scrivener, also because it erodes their policy underpinnings. See RCW 

49.60.020 (liberal construction directive); Allison, 118 Wn.2d at 94 (“The 
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‘substantial factor’ test is based more on policy considerations than … the 

‘but for’ test.” (quotation omitted)). As Allison explains, employees’ 

enforcement of WLAD—in which they play “the role of a private attorney 

general”—would be unacceptably difficult if they had to “show precisely 

what factors … actually motivated an employer.” Id. at 86, 96 (quotation 

omitted). Yet Division I’s “good faith” test focuses on employers’ 

subjective state of mind.4 In its place, the law should focus on what 

employers objectively believed. That is, if an employer should have known 

that accusations were false or tainted due to the “conscious and unconscious 

biases,” App. 25, of others, a jury may find the employer’s “good faith” to 

be “unworthy of belief,” and thus the reason, while legitimate, was 

pretextual. Kuyper v. State, 79 Wn. App. 732, 738, 904 P.2d 793 (1995), 

review denied, 129 Wn.2d 1101 (1996).  

 Besides Division I’s decision increasing the difficulty of proving 

violations of WLAD, it leaves employees without a remedy for 

discrimination and retaliation at the hands of direct supervisors, co-workers, 

 
 4 Federal courts have adopted a similar “good faith” test for Title VII claims. See, 
e.g., Villa v. CavaMezze Grill, LLC, 858 F.3d 896, 903 (4th Cir. 2017) (collecting cases). 
And Division I and Domingo relied heavily on a federal case, Gill v. Reorganized School 
District R–6, Festus, Mo., 32 F.3d 376 (8th Cir. 1994), to support their discussion about 
employers’ good faith. But that was a crucial error: in Allison, when this Court first decided 
whether to adopt the “substantial factor” test, this Court rejected federal law, preferring to 
“adopt a standard that best corresponds with the language and policies contained in this 
state’s antidiscrimination law.” 118 Wn.2d at 91. As Division I’s reliance on federal and 
outdated state authorities shows, a reason for review is to caution lower courts against 
relying on federal cases or Court of Appeals cases pre-dating Scrivener.  
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and, in the case of Black DOC officers, white inmates. As DOC cannot 

deny, even if a jury could reasonably find that the accusations were tainted 

by the racist or retaliatory motives of Waggeh’s supervisors, his co-workers, 

and DOC inmates, Division I’s decision precludes a remedy for Waggeh 

and other similarly situated employees. Division I’s good-faith standard 

thus allows employers to become tools of racism against their employees. 

 In this way, Division I’s decision exposes an even deeper rift in 

Washington law that this Court should reconcile. Under disparate-impact 

theories of discrimination under WLAD, employers may be liable even 

though the discrimination is unintentional. E-Z Loader Boat Trailers, Inc. 

v. Travelers Indem. Co., 106 Wn.2d 901, 909, 726 P.2d 439 (1986). And in 

hostile-work-environment claims, employers are liable even if managers 

knew nothing about harassment by co-workers or supervisors, as long as the 

employer should have known. Glasgow v. Georgia-Pac. Corp., 103 Wn.2d 

401, 407, 693 P.2d 708 (1985). But Division I and E-Z Loader say that 

employers may directly treat employees disparately (“disparate treatment” 

claims) as long as racial discrimination or retaliation is unintentional. To 

reconcile this apparent discrepancy, a discriminatory motive should be 

imputed under the “substantial factor” standard if an employer should have 

known. See RCW 49.60.020. 

 Here, a jury could have found that DOC should have known—as the 
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ALJ realized here—that the accusations were bunk, showing DOC’s reason 

either was unworthy of belief or that illegitimate reasons were a substantial 

factor in the decision.5 While DOC laughs off Waggeh’s theory as a wild 

“conspiracy” theory, Resp’t’s Br. at 28, DOC discounts the role of explicit 

and implicit biases in the workplaces, and DOC ignores that a MCC 

supervisor, Sergeant Hopkins, testified about a behavioral pattern within the 

MCC that was evident in this case. CP 154–57. Sure, the accusations could 

allow a jury to go in the opposite direction. But they were also what one 

would expect to find if, as a factfinder could reasonably conclude, even just 

a handful of people within a large workplace wanted to induce management 

to fire a Black man. Indeed, legal scholars have found that employers who 

fire Black employees often cite “insubordination” or other “disrespectful” 

behavior, characterizing them as angry, as Waggeh’s sergeants did here.6 

CP 258. Or Black employees’ work performance is judged more harshly 

 
 5 “[S]ummary judgment to an employer is seldom appropriate in WLAD cases.” 
Scrivener, 181 Wn.2d at 445 (citations omitted). This presumption against summary 
judgment accounts for “the difficulty of proving a discriminatory motivation.” Id. (citations 
omitted). Unless the employer confesses to their discriminatory or retaliatory design,--a 
rarity—a jury’s rule is to decide between “the … reasonable but competing inferences of 
both discrimination and nondiscrimination.” Mikkelsen 189 Wn.2d at 528. But here, 
Division I, instead of asking whether a jury could find for Waggeh, searched for evidence 
validating that DOC’s “good faith belief that Waggeh engaged in misconduct.” App. 20. 
 
 6 See generally, Leora Eisenstadt & Deanna Geddes, Suppressed Anger, 
Retaliation Doctrine, and Workplace Culture, 20 J. Bus. L. 147 (2017) (discussing  
employer claims of insubordination); Susan D. Carle, Angry Employees: Revisiting 
Insubordination in Title VII Cases, 10 Harv. L. Pol’y Rev. 185 (2016) (same). 
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than white colleagues.7 And the allegations of sexual misconduct against a 

Black man by inmates such as B.J. harken back to a dark chapter of 

American history. While racism was once “overt,” it has evolved.8 Courts 

must adapt and ensure that WLAD continues to be construed and applied to 

achieve its purposes. RCW 49.60.020. 

  Review is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(1).9  

(b) Division I’s Decision Conflicts with Cornwell 

 Under Division I’s opinion, the proximity in time between an 

employee’s opposition activity and the employer’s action no longer 

 
 7 For example, in one study involving lawyers, researchers found that supervising 
attorneys evaluating legal writing judged a piece more harshly if they were told the writer 
was Black. Arin N. Reeves, Written in Black and White: Exploring Confirmation Bias in 
Racialized Perception of Writing Skills (Apr. 2014), https://nextions.com/wp-
content/uploads/2017/05/written-in-black-and-white-yellow-paper-series.pdf. 
 
 8 Devah Pager & Hana Shepherd, The Sociology of Discrimination: Racial 
Discrimination in Employment, Housing, Credit, and Consumer Markets, 34 Annual Rev. 
Social. 181–209 (2008), https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2915460/. 
 
 9 It is no answer for DOC to argue, as it did on reconsideration below, that Waggeh 
did not raise all the above points earlier. Waggeh did assert that DOC’s firing decision was 
tainted by a pervasive culture and pattern of racism within the MCC. E.g., Appellant’s Br. 
at 12, 17; Appellant’s Reply Br. at 11; CP 29–30, 73–76, 184. Waggeh also argued that 
White “should have known that [any accusation of misconduct] was likely false.” 
Appellant’s Reply Br. at 9. As he urged the trial court, an employer that has “known of and 
tolerated racism” should not be permitted to “fill[] an employee’s file with unsubstantiated 
and disproved allegations of wrongdoing.” CP 73.  
 In any event, Division I’s “good faith” test and Domingo are on the books, not 
matter what Waggeh briefed below. Waggeh had no control over Division I perpetuating 
an outdated rule that conflicts with the “substantial factor” test and hinders WLAD’s 
purposes. Division I has opened this rupture in the law anew; Waggeh has the right to point 
it out; and this Court has the authority to address it. RAP 13.4(b). Otherwise, Washington 
law would become more riddled with internal conflicts and tension—if, as DOC seems to 
believe, a case is unreviewable unless the parties’ briefing anticipates precisely how the 
Court of Appeals would state the law. That is not what RAP 13.4(b) expects. 
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matters—a discrepancy warranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(1). Under 

Cornwell v. Microsoft Corp., 192 Wn.2d 403, 415–16, 430 P.3d 229 

(2018)., if (i) an employer knows or suspects10 the employee engaged in 

protected activity, and (ii) the employer fires the employee “shortly 

thereafter,” then (iii) “it is a reasonable inference that these actions were in 

retaliation” and “[t]hat is all that is required to survive summary judgment.” 

Such “proximity” between an employer’s knowledge (or suspicions) and an 

employee’s firing may be as long as “a few months” and still support “a 

reasonable inference of retaliatory motive.” Id. at 416 n.10.  

 Despite Cornwell, Division I mentioned the proximity in time 

here—one month—only in the opinion’s facts, not in its analysis. App. 2, 

14–21. For Division I, all that mattered was whether the record could 

support an inference that DOC acted in good faith. App. 19–20. Besides 

flipping the summary judgment standard on its head, Division I read the 

close-in-time test out of the law entirely.  

 DOC, in arguing against reconsideration, suggested Division I’s 

decision is sustainable under Cornwell. But DOC’s arguments are better 

suited for the question how to resolve the conflict, not whether the conflict 

 
 10 In Cornwell, this Court acknowledged WLAD might impose a “corporate 
knowledge” standard, in which case the employer’s decision-maker need not have actual 
knowledge or suspicion about the employee’s protective activity. 192 Wn.2d at 413 & n.6. 
Under that standard, knowledge may be imputed. Id. But the question did not require 
resolution in Cornwell, so it remains open. Id.  
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exists under RAP 13.4(b)(1). In particular, DOC argued that Cornwell 

addresses merely the first step in the McDonnell Douglas burden-shifting 

framework, whereas this case turned on the third step. While Cornwell does 

say that it addresses “only the first step,” 192 Wn.2d at 411, DOC is right 

in only the most technical sense. Cornwell is so broad that this distinction 

is meaningless. As Scrivener confirms, if the employer produces a 

legitimate reason for its action (the second step) then the employee need 

only show (the third step) that “a genuine issue of material fact” exists as to 

“either (1) that the defendant’s reason is pretextual or (2) that although the 

employer’s stated reason is legitimate, discrimination nevertheless was a 

substantial factor motivating the employer.” Scrivener, 181 Wn.2d at 447–

48 (emphasis added). And Cornwell explains that proximity in time suffices 

to show retaliation was “a substantial factor.” 192 Wn.2d at 416 (emphasis 

added); see also id. n.10 (“reasonable inference of retaliatory motive”).11 

 But even under DOC’s proposed curbs on Cornwell, Division I still 

 
 11 DOC also cited Division II’s recent decision in Mackey v. Home Depot USA, 
Inc., 12 Wn. App. 2d 557, 584, 459 P.3d 371, review denied, 195 Wn.2d 1031 (2020), 
which differentiated between step one and step three. The problem: neither DOC nor 
Division II explained why Washington anti-discrimination law should hold that 
“substantial factor” takes on a different, stricter meaning as the McDonnell Douglas 
framework unfolds. To hold that it does, as DOC and Division II think, conflicts with 
WLAD’s directive to construe WLAD liberally. RCW 49.60.020. Instead, if proximity in 
time shows a “substantial factor” at step one, it should at step three as well. That conclusion 
might strike some as creating a redundancy between steps one and three. But it is the 
harmless—even beneficial (again, see RCW 49.60.020)—result from Scrivener’s 
liberalization of step three of Washington’s version of McDonnell Douglas. 
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misapplied DOC’s proximity-in-time-plus rule, neglecting to conclude (or 

even consider) the proximity’s probative power when viewed in context of 

the whole record. Besides Waggeh filing the EEOC complaint, he had long 

complained about mistreatment. As discussed, he started in 2008 with his 

firm email. CP 252–53. Then in 2010, Waggeh objected to what he 

perceived as harassing behavior by a sergeant, and Monroe supervisors 

responded by writing up Waggeh and chastising him for being 

“unprofessional and disrespectful.” CP 275. In 2011, after he was subjected 

to the urinalysis and search of his car for drugs, Waggeh filed a grievance 

with his union. CP 591, 700. This record permitted a jury to infer that 

Waggeh’s supervisors and the prison superintendent came to see him as 

“problem” employee who would not stay quiet, and so DOC fired him. 

G. CONCLUSION 

 Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b) and should be granted.  

 DATED this 18th day of December 2020. 

    Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Gary W. Manca    

    Gary W. Manca, WSBA #42798 
Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 
Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 
2775 Harbor Avenue SW 
Third Floor, Suite C 
Seattle, WA  98126 
(206) 574-6661 
Attorneys for Petitioner Waggeh
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HAZELRIGG, J. — Abubacarr Waggeh seeks review of summary judgment 

for his former employer, the State of Washington Department of Corrections 

(DOC), on his claims of discrimination and retaliation under the Washington Law 

Against Discrimination.1  He also argues that the trial court erred in striking 

evidence of a settlement offer that DOC made to him in an effort to resolve a 

grievance filed by Waggeh and his union.  DOC cross-appeals, arguing that the 

court erred in denying its motion to strike evidence submitted by Waggeh that was 

inadmissible or related to events outside the statute of limitations. 

                                            
1 Chap. 49.60, RCW. 
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Waggeh failed to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact on his claims 

because he did not satisfy his burden to show that DOC’s articulated legitimate 

reason for his termination was a pretext for discriminatory or retaliatory intent.  The 

court did not err in striking evidence of a settlement offer that was submitted as 

proof of liability.  We affirm.2 

 
FACTS 

Abubacarr Waggeh began working for the Department of Corrections 

(DOC) in January 2008.  He was employed as a corrections officer at the Monroe 

Correctional Complex (MCC) for nearly eight years and primarily worked in the visit 

room at the facility.  DOC investigated Waggeh for allegations of misconduct and 

inappropriate conduct with visitor and offenders under DOC supervision.  In July 

2015, Waggeh filed a complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission (EEOC) and filed an amended complaint on September 21, 2015.  

Waggeh was fired in October 2015.  The EEOC issued a right to sue letter on 

February 11, 2016. 

Waggeh filed suit against DOC and two superintendents at the facility 

raising claims of wrongful termination, retaliation, harassment and hostile work 

environment, discrimination, defamation, and breach of the duty of good faith and 

fair dealing.  DOC moved for summary judgment on all claims.  In support of its 

motion, it filed a declaration of Sherry Lucas, a human resources consultant 

employed by DOC at the MCC.  The Lucas declaration attached copies of DOC 

                                            
2 In light of this result, we need not address DOC’s cross-appeal because any error made 

by the trial court in considering inadmissible evidence was necessarily harmless. 
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policies and Waggeh’s personnel records, including incident reports, investigation 

records, and discipline records.  DOC also filed a declaration of counsel with 

excerpts from Waggeh’s deposition testimony.  The declarations and attached 

exhibits established the following facts. 

DOC maintains numerous policies and trains its employees on their rights 

and obligations under those policies.  DOC has a zero tolerance policy for all forms 

of sexual misconduct, and sanctions for such misconduct may include dismissal.  

DOC “does not recognize consensual sexual contact between staff and offenders 

as a defense against allegations of sexual misconduct.”  Under the Prison Rape 

Elimination Act (PREA), staff sexual misconduct includes engaging in sexual 

intercourse with an offender and  

Engaging in any of the following acts for the purpose of gratifying the 
sexual desire(s) of any person or getting an offender to engage in 
staff sexual misconduct, or when the act has sexual undertones (i.e., 
can reasonably be inferred to be sexual in nature, judged according 
to a reasonable person’s reaction to a similar act under similar 
circumstances): 
. . . . 
c. Exchanging personal letters, pictures, phone calls, or contact 

information with an individual known to be under Department 
jurisdiction or the immediate family of an individual known to be 
under Department jurisdiction unless expressly authorized by the 
Secretary/designee. 

d.  Exchanging personal information with an individual known to be 
under Department jurisdiction, or his/her immediate family, 
intended to abuse, humiliate, harass, degrade, or arouse any 
person and/or in an effort to get an offender to engage in staff 
sexual misconduct. 

 
All allegations of staff sexual misconduct are investigated. 

Employees are to receive initial PREA training when hired and annual 

refresher training.  When Waggeh was hired, he acknowledged receipt of and 
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agreed to familiarize himself with the collective bargaining agreement, the DOC 

employee handbook, and DOC policies concerning employee 

relationships/contacts with offenders, drugs and alcohol, and the PREA.  Waggeh 

admitted he had been trained on these policies and knew the expectations for 

behavior. 

The first indications of problematic behavior appeared in Waggeh’s annual 

performance review for the period from January 2010 to January 2011.  The 

authoring sergeant noted a number of incidents that had occurred throughout the 

preceding year.  The evaluation recounted reports that Waggeh had taken a state 

van off the premises, behaved unprofessionally and inappropriately by knuckle 

bumping an offender, idled at his post and failed to patrol the visiting room or pat-

down offenders when they arrived, made inappropriate comments to female 

visitors, refused to be relieved by a female officer, spent too much time conversing 

with offenders when he should have been performing his duties, “soft-lock[ed]”3 

the offender visiting room entrance, and responded to a reminder never to soft-

lock a door by saying, “Yeah, whatever.”  Despite these reports, the sergeant noted 

that “most of the issues have been resolved” and he believed that “Officer Waggeh 

has the ability and intelligence to turn himself around and become an asset to the 

Department.” 

DOC investigated an incident in November 2010 in which Waggeh allegedly 

ignored directives given by a sergeant to secure the door of the visiting room, hung 

up the phone on the sergeant, and yelled at him in the administration building.  This 

                                            
3 The term “soft-lock” is used in correctional institutions to refer to closing an automatically-

locking door softly enough that it does not latch and the lock does not engage. 
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behavior was witnessed by staff, visitors, and offenders.  The investigator 

concluded that Waggeh’s actions were insubordinate, unprofessional, and 

disrespectful toward other staff members.  Waggeh was issued a letter of 

reprimand from the superintendent of the facility. 

In August 2011, DOC received a tip that Waggeh was bringing drugs into 

the facility.  Waggeh agreed to a search of his person and vehicle.  A drug-sniffing 

dog alerted to his pants pocket, his utility belt, and the center console of his vehicle, 

but no drugs were found.  DOC required Waggeh to submit to a drug test because 

the dog had alerted and “his eyes were very red.”  Waggeh agreed to testing.  After 

the test, a superintendent explained to Waggeh that he would not be allowed to 

leave the testing site in his own vehicle because they could not be sure that he 

was not driving under the influence before the test results were obtained.  Waggeh 

was offered transportation to his residence but, despite the warning, left in his 

personal vehicle, and 911 was called.  The drug test returned negative results.  

Incident reports noted that Waggeh was cooperative with the investigation but 

could not explain why the dog alerted. 

In February 2012, a sergeant wrote an incident report after noticing Waggeh 

“standing around not doing anything” when he should have been preparing the 

visitor room.  Although Waggeh had 20 minutes to prepare the room, he had not 

done so by the time the visitors arrived.  The next week, another sergeant identified 

several concerns with Waggeh, including leaving his post, failing to properly 

communicate about offender movements in the facility, and being “late quite 

frequently.”  Two months later, Waggeh informed DOC that his driver’s license had 
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been suspended due to unpaid tickets.  He was allowed to continue working 

provided he did not operate state vehicles until his license was reinstated. 

In September 2012, a corrections officer filed an incident report after 

encountering a former inmate’s wife while off duty.  He said that she had asked 

him about Waggeh and remarked that “he was always trying to get her to go to a 

club in Seattle where he always went to.”  The officer noted that another inmate’s 

wife had told him something similar about three years before, but he had not 

credited the statement.  Even so, he had spoken to Waggeh after this first report 

and “told him that the worst thing he could do in visiting was to be hitting on the 

vis[i]tors and that he could have nothing at all to do with them.”  The officer also 

noted another rumor that had been circulating about two years before that an 

inmate porter’s girlfriend was hanging out with Waggeh at the same bar. 

In October 2012, a sergeant wrote an incident report describing his 

interaction with Waggeh when briefing him on the logistics plan for an event.  

Waggeh argued with him about the logistics and disregarded what the sergeant 

told him and showed him in the plan.  The same day, another sergeant wrote an 

incident report detailing allegations made to him by an offender that Waggeh had 

made advances toward the offender’s wife when she came to visit and made 

comments to her that made her uncomfortable.  The offender stated that his wife 

refused to come back to visit as long as Waggeh was there.  The sergeant 

contacted the offender’s wife and she confirmed that Waggeh had said things that 

made her uncomfortable and made passes at her while she was waiting for her 

husband. 
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After an investigation of two incidents that occurred in October 2014, 

Waggeh was issued another letter of reprimand in February 2015.  The investigator 

found that Waggeh had allowed an offender’s female visitor to use his personal 

cell phone for 10 to 15 minutes in the facility’s parking lot and texts from Waggeh’s 

phone number were found on the visitor’s phone.  The investigator also found that, 

on a separate occasion, Waggeh had taken a female visitor to the back storage 

area, alone behind a closed door at the facility, and cut the hood off of her jacket 

because hoods are not allowed in the visit room.  The letter stated that these 

actions violated DOC policies requiring courteous and professional treatment of 

visitors, prohibiting communications with offenders or their associates, and 

directing employees to avoid situations that present the appearance of impropriety.  

The superintendent who issued the letter noted that he was “very concerned about 

[Waggeh’s] judgment and ability to assess and address situations appropriately 

that occur with visitors and/or offenders during times of visiting.”  After reiterating 

the responsibilities of a visit room staff member, the superintendent stated: 

You have severely damaged my faith in your ability to meet these 
visit room requirements. This disciplinary action is intended to 
impress upon you the gravity of your misconduct. I take this incident 
seriously and will not tolerate any disregard for the directives given 
to you above or by the Department in the future. Any further 
misconduct on your part may result in further disciplinary action, up 
to and including discharge. 

 
Waggeh was permanently reassigned from the visit room position to another 

position in the facility. 

In early 2015, DOC began investigating allegations that Waggeh had 

exchanged telephone numbers and gone out partying with Autumn Arnestad, a 
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woman he had met when she was visiting an offender; made inappropriate 

comments of a sexual nature to three different women visiting inmates; made 

threatening comments to an offender who had reported Waggeh’s conduct; and 

retaliated against one of the women who had refused his sexual advances by 

denying her access to visitation.  On March 16, 2015, the investigation was 

reassigned to investigator Michelle Torstvet at DOC’s Workplace Investigation 

Services Unit because of the complexity and scope of the allegations.  During the 

course of the investigation, Torstvet received a report that Waggeh had gone on a 

date and had sexual contact with a woman who was under DOC supervision, 

Mandi Gregg.  DOC opened a separate investigation regarding this allegation on 

May 4, 2015. 

Waggeh was interviewed in connection with both investigations and denied 

all of the allegations.  He stated he did not recognize photos of any of the women 

involved except for one of the women who had reported his inappropriate 

comments, saying that her face was familiar to him as a regular visitor.  DOC sent 

Waggeh a notification of potential disciplinary action on July 28, 2015 and attached 

copies of Torstvet’s investigation reports.  The letter informed Waggeh that DOC 

was “considering taking disciplinary action against [him], up to and including 

discharge.”  Waggeh was given an opportunity to respond in writing or in person 

at a pre-disciplinary meeting scheduled for August 3, 2015. 

 In August 2015, Waggeh was disciplined for a separate incident, resulting 

in a five percent pay reduction for three months.  Another corrections officer and a 

nurse reported that Waggeh appeared to be asleep while guarding an inmate at 



No. 79876-6-I/9 

- 9 - 

Harborview Medical Center.  The nurse stated that she was not sure if Waggeh 

was asleep, but his eyes were closed during the ten minutes she was in the room 

as if he did not know she was there.  The officer reported that she had to call 

Waggeh’s name three times to wake him.  Waggeh denied sleeping on duty, said 

that the other officer was lying, and said that the nurse would not have been able 

to tell if his eyes were closed because “[i]t’s a big, dark room.  I’m a black person.  

She would have to be closer to see.” 

In the notification of disciplinary action, the superintendent noted: “You have 

taken no responsibility for your behavior nor have you shown any remorse.  You 

have caused significant harm to your credibility and the public we serve.  You have 

embarrassed the Department.  Your behavior has severely diminished my trust in 

you to honestly and effectively perform your duties.”  The superintendent wrote 

that Waggeh was expected “to demonstrate honesty, reliability, and 

trustworthiness” and warned him “in the strongest terms possible that any further 

misconduct on your part will result in further disciplinary action, up to and including 

dismissal.” 

 Waggeh’s employment was terminated on October 19, 2015.  The notice of 

disciplinary action stated that there were three reasons for Waggeh’s discharge: 

he engaged in an off-duty sexual relationship with an offender on DOC community 

supervision, he exchanged phone numbers and went out for drinks with a woman 

he had met while she was visiting an offender at the facility, and he failed to report 

his personal communications and relationships with known associates of an 

offender.  The superintendent made findings after the full investigations and pre-
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disciplinary meeting at which Waggeh had the opportunity to present any additional 

evidence.  The letter listed the following findings: 

I have found that you did have sexual relations with Ms. Gregg, an 
offender on DOC supervision at the time. She had nothing to gain by 
answering the investigator’s questions either truthfully or untruthfully. 
In fact, one could argue that it may be more beneficial to her if she 
did lie and say it did not happen, as her new husband was in 
attendance while she was being asked some very detailed questions 
about her sexual encounter with you. 
 
You told the investigator that you didn’t know Ms. Arnestad nor Ms. 
Gregg. However, during the pre-disciplinary meeting, you did appear 
to remember them and described them as smelling like smoke, old, 
and overweight. This leads me to believe that you were untruthful 
with the investigator and therefore more likely than not, untruthful 
about the additional statements you made. 
 
I found that you exchanged phone numbers and socialized away 
from work with Ms. Arnestad, whom you met in the MCC Visit Room 
and that she was an associate of an incarcerated offender. 
 
I found that you did not report any personal communications or 
relationships with any known family members or associates of 
offenders. 
 
In addition, the MCC PREA Review Committee found the allegations 
regarding your misconduct to be substantiated. 
 
In determining the appropriate sanction, the superintendent reviewed the 

investigation materials and Waggeh’s response, as well as his work history, length 

of service, training provided, and personnel file.  The superintendent explained his 

reasoning and conclusion: 

It is very concerning to me is that [sic] you have taken no 
responsibility for your actions. Your behaviors have caused 
significant harm to your credibility and the public we serve and your 
persistent misconduct has negated any confidence I had that you are 
capable of honestly and effectively performing your duties as a 
Correctional Officer in the future. In the correctional environment, 
sometimes it comes down to the word of an offender versus a staff 
member. It is imperative that we be able to rely on our staff’s word.  
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The comments made by you about female visitors during your pre-
disciplinary meeting were extremely disrespectful and discriminatory. 
This behavior is not tolerated by the Department. 
 
As in your previous discipline, you have never admitted to any 
wrongdoing, even when there were witnesses. You have repeatedly 
blamed someone else instead of taking responsibility for any 
misconduct. Your continued lack of honesty and integrity has left me 
with no confidence that your credibility can be restored. 
 
Accordingly, I have determined that discharge as outlined in 
paragraph one of this letter is the only acceptable level of discipline. 
Any lesser sanction would not express the seriousness with which I 
view your misconduct, deter others, or maintain the mission of the 
agency. 
 
In response to DOC’s motion for summary judgment, Waggeh submitted his 

own declaration and a declaration of counsel with documents attached including a 

copy of an order issued by the Office of Administrative Hearings for the 

Employment Security Division, a declaration of a longtime DOC employee at the 

facility that had been prepared for a different case, and a proposed settlement 

agreement that DOC had offered to Waggeh.  DOC objected to portions of the 

declarations and moved to strike those portions.  The court granted the motion to 

strike in part as to the employment security findings and evidence of settlement 

negotiations submitted as exhibits to the declaration of Waggeh’s attorney.  The 

court denied the motion as to the remainder of the declarations. 

Waggeh’s declaration stated that he was born in Gambia, immigrated to the 

United States from West Africa in 2002, and became a United States citizen in 

2010.  He asserted that he is Muslim and rarely drinks alcohol.  Waggeh denied 

having a sexual relationship with Gregg or a social relationship with Arnestad.  He 

also stated that many of the prior incidents that appeared in his personnel file were 
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based on false accusations.  He identified the 2011 drug investigation as 

“particularly humiliating and upsetting.”  He explained that bloodshot eyes are “a 

common pervasive condition for people who have grown up in Africa” and said that 

he drove his own car home even after being offered a ride because he “fear[ed] 

[that] they might plant some drugs in the car overnight if [he] left it.” 

Waggeh also submitted a declaration of Sergeant Melvin Hopkins that had 

been prepared for a separate lawsuit against DOC.  Hopkins stated that he had 

worked at the MCC for nineteen years and had observed racism and sexism there.  

He described the workplace culture as “a very cliquish, ‘good old boys’ 

environment” and noted that, “[i]f the good old boys didn’t want you around, they 

often tried to make you miserable enough that you would want to quit.”  He stated 

an observation that there were many Black employees who grew tired of fighting 

the racism at the facility and eventually left their jobs. 

Other documents included relevant sections of the investigator’s reports 

and an email from another corrections officer to the investigator in response to her 

inquiry about one of the alleged incidents.  The corrections officer noted that he 

had not witnessed Waggeh harass any offender or visitor during the officer’s “short 

stay at MSU Visiting” and described Waggeh as courteous, cheerful, and polite.  

Waggeh also submitted DOC’s answer to an interrogatory asking how many 

lawsuits were filed against DOC claiming discrimination, sexual harassment and 

hostile work environment, retaliation, and/or whistleblowing during the period of 

Waggeh’s employment.  DOC objected to the interrogatory and, without waiver of 

its objection, answered “58.” 
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The court granted summary judgment in favor of DOC as to Waggeh’s 

claims of defamation, retaliation, violation of public policy, breach of good faith and 

fair dealing, wrongful termination based on discrimination, and harassment.4  

Summary judgment was denied as to the claim of hostile work environment.  

Waggeh then moved for voluntary dismissal without prejudice of his sole remaining 

claim, which was granted. 

Waggeh filed a motion for reconsideration seeking reinstatement of his 

“causes of action regarding unlawful termination/discharge, retaliation, and 

discrimination based on race, color, national origin, and creed” and challenging the 

court’s decision to strike the evidence of the settlement agreement.  The court 

denied the motion for reconsideration.  In its written ruling, the court noted that it 

had given each side substantial time to argue its case on summary judgment and 

had asked Waggeh what specific facts supported his claims.  Waggeh “informed 

the Court that he had other facts/evidence which he expected to introduce at trial 

and had not provided them in his summary judgment pleadings because the 

hearing was not the trial.”  The court noted that it was never provided the 

information that Waggeh claimed to be reserving for trial. 

Waggeh appealed.  DOC cross-appealed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
4 Although the court stated that it was granting summary judgment on the claim of sexual 

harassment, Waggeh clarified that his claim did not allege harassment of a sexual nature. 
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ANALYSIS 

I. Summary Judgment 

Waggeh argues that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment for 

DOC on his claims of unlawful termination/discharge, retaliation, and 

discrimination based on race, color, national origin, or creed.  He argues that there 

were genuine issues of material fact including whether he engaged in an improper 

sexual relationship with Gregg, whether he engaged in an improper social 

relationship with Arnestad, and whether he had sufficient contacts with Arnestad 

outside the workplace to require a report to DOC. 

We review summary judgment de novo, engaging in the same inquiry as 

the trial court.  Christensen v. Grant County Hosp. Dist. No.1, 152 Wn.2d 299, 305, 

96 P.3d 957 (2004).  Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine 

issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of 

law because, given the evidence, reasonable persons could reach only one 

conclusion.  CR 56(c); Walston v. Boeing Co., 181 Wn.2d 391, 395, 334 P.3d 519 

(2014).  The court must view all facts and reasonable inferences from the facts in 

the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.  Christensen, 152 Wn.2d at 305.   

The moving party bears the burden to show that there is no genuine issue 

of material fact.  Walston, 181 Wn.2d at 395.  “A genuine issue is one [upon] which 

reasonable people may disagree; a material fact is one controlling the litigation’s 

outcome.”  Youker v. Douglas County, 178 Wn. App. 793, 796, 327 P.3d 1243 

(2014).  If this showing is made, the nonmoving party must present evidence 

demonstrating an issue of material fact.  Walston, 181 Wn.2d at 395–96.  If the 
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nonmoving party fails to demonstrate such an issue, summary judgment for the 

moving party is appropriate.  Id. at 396. 

The Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) prohibits employers 

from discharging or discriminating against any employee on the basis of a 

protected characteristic.  RCW 49.60.180(2), (3); Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 

1 of Kittitas County, 189 Wn.2d 516, 526, 404 P.3d 464 (2017).  It also prohibits 

employers from discharging any employee because the employee opposed 

discriminatory practices forbidden by the WLAD.  RCW 49.60.210.  The WLAD is 

to be construed liberally to accomplish its purpose of preventing practices of 

discrimination, which “threaten[ ] not only the rights and proper privileges of 

[Washington’s] inhabitants but menace[ ] the institutions and foundation of a free 

democratic state.”  RCW 49.60.010; RCW 49.60.020. 

Summary judgment is often inappropriate in discrimination cases under the 

WLAD because “the evidence ‘will generally contain reasonable but competing 

inferences of both discrimination and nondiscrimination that must be resolved by 

a jury.’”  Johnson v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., 159 Wn. App. 18, 27, 244 P.3d 438 

(2010) (quoting Davis v. W. One Auto. Grp., 140 Wn. App. 449, 456, 166 P.3d 807 

(2007)).  However, the plaintiff must do more than express an opinion or make 

conclusory statements to overcome a motion for summary judgment.  Marquis v. 

City of Spokane, 130 Wn.2d 97, 105, 922 P.2d 43 (1996).  “The worker must 

establish specific and material facts to support each element of his or her prima 

facie case.”  Id.  Summary judgment remains appropriate when the plaintiff fails to 
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raise a genuine issue of material fact on one or more prima facie elements of the 

claim.  Johnson, 159 Wn. App. at 27. 

Contrary to counsel’s assertion at oral argument, the Washington Supreme 

Court recently reaffirmed that  discrimination claims under the WLAD are analyzed 

under the three-step burden-shifting scheme established by the United States 

Supreme Court in McDonnell Douglas Corporation v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S. 

Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973).  Mikkelsen, 189 Wn.2d at 526–27.  Under this 

framework, the plaintiff bears the initial burden to establish a prima facie case of 

discrimination.  Id. at 527.  If the plaintiff is able to make out a prima facie case, a 

rebuttable presumption of discrimination arises.  Id.  The burden then shifts to the 

defendant to “‘articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse 

employment action.’”  Id. (quoting Scrivener v. Clark Coll., 181 Wn.2d 439, 446, 

334 P.3d 541 (2014)).  The employer’s burden is one of production, rather than 

persuasion.  Id. at 533.  The employer need only introduce evidence that, taken as 

true, would permit the conclusion that there was a nondiscriminatory reason for the 

adverse action.  Id.  It does not need to persuade the court that it was actually 

motivated by the proffered reason to satisfy its burden.  Id. 

If the defendant makes this showing, the burden shifts back to the plaintiff 

to produce sufficient evidence that the defendant’s articulated nondiscriminatory 

reason was a pretext.  Id. at 527.  The plaintiff can meet this burden by “offering 

sufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact either (1) that the 

defendant’s reason is pretextual or (2) that although the employer’s stated reason 
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is legitimate, discrimination nevertheless was a substantial factor motivating the 

employer.”  Id. 

If all three burdens are met and the record contains reasonable but 

competing inferences of both discrimination and nondiscrimination, “‘it is the jury’s 

task to choose between such inferences’” and summary judgment is not 

appropriate.  Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I, 144 Wn.2d 172, 186, 23 P.3d 440 (2001), 

abrogated on other grounds by Mikkelsen, 189 Wn.2d 516 (quoting Carle v. 

McChord Credit Union, 65 Wn. App. 93, 102, 827 P.2d 1070 (1992)).  Washington 

courts have recognized that direct evidence of discrimination is often elusive, so 

inferential and circumstantial evidence may be sufficient to show pretext.  Griffith 

v. Schnitzer Steel Indus., Inc., 128 Wn. App. 438, 447, 115 P.3d 1065 (2005); 

Mikkelsen, 189 Wn.2d at 526.  However, an employee’s subjective beliefs and 

assessments about their job performance are irrelevant.  Griffith, 128 Wn. App. at 

447.  Retaliation claims are analyzed under the same three-step McDonnell 

Douglas burden-shifting framework as discrimination claims.  Cornwell v. Microsoft 

Corp., 192 Wn.2d 403, 411, 430 P.3d 229, 234 (2018). 

The parties focus their arguments regarding both the discrimination and 

retaliation claims on the third step of the McDonnell Douglas analysis.  We will 

assume for the purposes of this opinion that Waggeh satisfied his burden to raise 

presumptions of discrimination and retaliation and that DOC satisfied its burden to 

articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for Waggeh’s termination. 

DOC contends that Waggeh failed to show that there was a genuine issue 

of material fact that DOC’s articulated reason was pretextual or that, despite the 
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legitimate reason, discrimination or retaliation played a significant factor in his 

termination.  To create a pretext issue, the employee must present some evidence 

that the employer’s stated reason for termination is unworthy of belief.  Kuyper v. 

Dep’t of Wildlife, 79 Wn. App. 732, 738, 904 P.2d 793 (1995).  This requires a 

showing that, for example, the articulated reason for termination has no basis in 

fact, was not really a motivating factor for the decision, lacks temporal connection 

to the decision, or was not a motivating factor for employment decisions for other 

employees in the same situation.  Id. at 738–39. 

In response to DOC’s motion for summary judgment, Waggeh submitted a 

declaration in which he denied that the instances of alleged misconduct that led to 

his termination had ever occurred, as he had during the investigation.  DOC 

contends that Waggeh’s denials are not sufficient to create an issue of fact, citing 

Domingo v. Boeing Emp. Credit Union, 124 Wn. App. 71, 98 P.3d 1222 (2004), 

abrogated on other grounds by Mikkelsen, 189 Wn.2d 516.  In Domingo, this court 

found that the plaintiff’s denial that she ever engaged in violent behavior was 

insufficient to raise an issue of fact as to whether the employer’s stated basis for 

dismissal was pretextual.  124 Wn. App. at 88.  Domingo did not dispute that her 

co-workers complained about her conduct, that her supervisor investigated the 

complaints, or that she received a written warning about violent behavior.  Id. at 

89.  The court found that, because Domingo presented no evidence that her 

supervisor did not, in good faith, believe that Domingo engaged in violent conduct, 

she had not demonstrated that the articulated reason was a pretext.  Id. at 88–89. 
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Domingo cited for support a federal case in which a substitute teacher had 

been removed after an investigation of a report that she had used a racial epithet, 

even though she denied the allegation.  Id. at 88 (citing Gill v. Reorganized Sch. 

Dist. R–6, Festus, Mo., 32 F.3d 376 (8th Cir.1994)).  Domingo imported the Eighth 

Circuit’s reasoning that  

Whether Gill did or did not engage in the conduct reported to the 
superintendent and whether the superintendent should have relied 
on the assistant principal’s investigation are “irrelevant because [this 
evidence] merely questions the soundness of the [superintendent’s 
decision].” Incorrect thinking on the superintendent’s part does not 
prove the school district’s explanation is a pretext. 

 
Id. at 88–89 (quoting Gill, 32 F.3d at 379 (citations omitted) (alterations in original)). 

At oral argument, Waggeh pointed to a case in which the Washington 

Supreme Court suggested that a plaintiff’s denial of misconduct may be sufficient 

to create a genuine issue of material fact.  See Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, 

Inc., 110 Wn.2d 355, 364, 753 P.2d 517 (1988), abrogated on other grounds by 

Mikkelsen, 189 Wn.2d 516.  In Grimwood, the court found that the plaintiff did not 

meet his burden to create a genuine issue of fact that the employer’s stated 

reasons for termination were pretextual when his affidavit in opposition to summary 

judgment presented only his conclusions and opinions as to the significance of the 

facts set forth in the defendant’s affidavit.  Id. at 360.  The court noted that the 

plaintiff’s conclusory statements that he was not uncooperative and that his job 

performance was not substandard did not counter the employer’s statements of 

noncooperation based on specific incidents.  Id.  However, the court noted that “[i]t 

would be different if plaintiff had claimed the incidents did not occur; for example, 
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had he said that he had, in fact, completed all employee evaluation forms when 

defendant said he did not, an issue of fact would have existed.”  Id. 

Here, Waggeh submitted a sworn declaration denying that he had 

committed the acts that led to his termination.  He also presented evidence that, 

he argued, showed that the investigation did not support the superintendent’s 

findings that he had engaged in the misconduct.  For example, Gregg stated that 

she met Waggeh in February or March of 2011, while Arnestad said that she had 

provided the introduction in the fall of 2011.  Also, the investigator noted that Gregg 

thought she remembered a tattoo on Waggeh’s arm, but Waggeh showed his arms 

to the investigator and no tattoo was visible.  Waggeh presented a declaration from 

a longtime employee of the facility describing his perception of racial discrimination 

at the facility. 

Even viewing all facts in the light most favorable to Waggeh, he did not meet 

his burden to produce evidence that DOC’s reason for termination was pretextual.  

Like Domingo, although Waggeh denied committing the misconduct, he presented 

no evidence that DOC did not, in good faith, believe that he had engaged in the 

misconduct.  After receiving the reports of Waggeh’s alleged misconduct, the 

investigator looked into the allegations thoroughly, interviewing multiple witnesses 

and examining relevant documents.  When considered in the context of the 

investigation as a whole, the inconsistencies in the reporting witnesses’ statements 

do not preclude a good faith belief that Waggeh engaged in the misconduct.  Nor 

does it show bad faith that DOC discounted Waggeh’s denials.  Waggeh’s 

personnel file documents the erosion of his credibility in the eyes of the 
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superintendents after multiple denials of misconduct even when witnessed by 

other staff members and uninterested parties, particularly as the frequency and 

seriousness of incidents steadily increased over the course of his employment. 

Grimwood does not compel a different result.  The Grimwood court’s 

hypothetical statement that the analysis “would be different if plaintiff had claimed 

the incidents did not occur” appears to refer to the analysis of whether the plaintiff’s 

work was satisfactory rather than whether the stated reason for termination was 

pretextual.  See 110 Wn.2d at 360–61.  Waggeh has not satisfied his burden to 

show that DOC’s articulated nondiscriminatory and nonretaliatory reason for 

termination was a pretext.  We affirm summary judgment for DOC.5 

 
II. Motion to Strike 

Waggeh contends that the court erred in striking evidence of a proposed 

settlement agreement offered to him by DOC to settle claims between Waggeh, 

DOC, and Waggeh’s union.   We review de novo a trial court ruling on a motion to 

strike evidence made in conjunction with a summary judgment motion.  Rice v. 

Offshore Sys., Inc., 167 Wn. App. 77, 85, 272 P.3d 865 (2012). 

All relevant evidence is admissible unless its admissibility is otherwise 

limited by statute, rule, or constitutional requirements.  ER 402.  Evidence is 

relevant if it has any tendency to make the existence of any fact of consequence 

                                            
5 DOC also argues in its briefing that Waggeh failed to support his arguments that the court 

erred in granting summary judgment on his claims of termination in violation of public policy, 
termination in violation of a collective bargaining agreement, defamation, or breach of the covenant 
of good faith and fair dealing. Despite counsel’s comment at oral argument that he was seeking 
remand for trial on all remaining claims, Waggeh clearly stated in his reply brief that he is not 
appealing the dismissal of these claims. We decline to review summary judgment on these claims 
in the absence of argument by the appellant. 
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to the determination of the action more or less probable.  ER 401.  The threshold 

for relevancy is low, and even minimally relevant evidence is admissible.  Salas v. 

Hi-Tech Erectors, 168 Wn.2d 664, 669, 230 P.3d 583 (2010).  However, relevant 

evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the 

danger of unfair prejudice.  ER 403. 

Under ER 408, evidence of offering or promising to furnish valuable 

consideration in compromising or attempting to compromise a claim which was 

disputed as to either validity or amount is not admissible to prove liability for or 

invalidity of the claim.  This is because offers of settlement are favored in law, and 

admission of those offers would discourage parties from attempting to settle cases.  

Knapp v. Hoerner, 22 Wn. App. 925, 930, 591 P.2d 1276 (1979).  Also, this rule 

recognizes that an offer of settlement may not necessarily indicate that the offeror 

believes that the adversary’s claim has merit.  Bulaich v. AT&T Info. Sys., 113 

Wn.2d 254, 263–64, 778 P.2d 1031 (1989).  However, the rule does not require 

exclusion when the evidence is offered for another purpose, such as proving bias 

or prejudice of a witness.  ER 408. 

Waggeh argued that the proposed settlement agreement was admissible 

because it was offered to show DOC’s discriminatory intent and that DOC’s stated 

reason for termination was a pretext.  He argued that DOC’s offer to reinstate him 

showed that it did not actually base his dismissal on the claimed policy violations.  

The trial court explained in the order denying reconsideration that, generally, the 

probative value of offers to compromise “is greatly outweighed by the danger of 

unfair prejudice because settlement offers may have nothing to do with liability.”  
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The court acknowledged Waggeh’s arguments for admission, but noted that ER 

408 does not allow settlement offers to be used as proof of liability and found that 

Waggeh had not “identified specific facts that support the consideration of the 

evidence of compromise under the other reasons exception to ER 408.” 

The court did not err in striking the evidence of the settlement offer.  

Waggeh’s stated purpose for offering the evidence was to persuade the trier of fact 

that DOC’s articulated reasons for firing him were pretextual.  By offering the 

evidence as proof of the ultimate issue in his case—whether DOC’s actions were 

discriminatory—Waggeh is seeking to use the evidence as proof of liability.  The 

court did not err in excluding this evidence under ER 408. 

 Affirmed.6 

 
 
       
 
WE CONCUR: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
6 Because we affirm the order granting summary judgment, DOC concedes that any error 

made by the trial court in considering inadmissible evidence is harmless and we need not consider 
its cross-appeal. 
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The appellant/cross-respondent, Abubacarr Waggeh, filed a motion for 

reconsideration for the opinion filed on September 8, 2020.  The 

respondents/cross-appellants filed a response.  A majority of the panel having 

determined that the motion should be denied; now, therefore, it is hereby 

 ORDERED that the motion for reconsideration be, and the same is, 

hereby denied. 

 
FOR THE COURT: 
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Dear Members of the Judiciary and the Legal Community: 

 

We are compelled by recent events to join other state supreme courts around the nation in 

addressing our legal community.   

 

The devaluation and degradation of black lives is not a recent event. It is a persistent and 

systemic injustice that predates this nation’s founding.  But recent events have brought to the 

forefront of our collective consciousness a painful fact that is, for too many of our citizens, 

common knowledge: the injustices faced by black Americans are not relics of the past.  We 

continue to see racialized policing and the overrepresentation of black Americans in every stage 

of our criminal and juvenile justice systems.  Our institutions remain affected by the vestiges of 

slavery: Jim Crow laws that were never dismantled and racist court decisions that were never 

disavowed.   

 

The legal community must recognize that we all bear responsibility for this on-going injustice, 

and that we are capable of taking steps to address it, if only we have the courage and the will.  

The injustice still plaguing our country has its roots in the individual and collective actions of 

many, and it cannot be addressed without the individual and collective actions of us all.   

 

As judges, we must recognize the role we have played in devaluing black lives.  This very court 

once held that a cemetery could lawfully deny grieving black parents the right to bury their 

infant.  We cannot undo this wrong⸺but we can recognize our ability to do better in the future.  

We can develop a greater awareness of our own conscious and unconscious biases in order to 

make just decisions in individual cases, and we can administer justice and support court rules in 

a way that brings greater racial justice to our system as a whole. 

 

As lawyers and members of the bar, we must recognize the harms that are caused when 

meritorious claims go unaddressed due to systemic inequities or the lack of financial, personal, 

or systemic support.  And we must also recognize that this is not how a justice system must 

operate.  Too often in the legal profession, we feel bound by tradition and the way things have 

“always” been.  We must remember that even the most venerable precedent must be struck down 

when it is incorrect and harmful.  The systemic oppression of black Americans is not merely 

incorrect and harmful; it is shameful and deadly. 
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Finally, as individuals, we must recognize that systemic racial injustice against black Americans 

is not an omnipresent specter that will inevitably persist.  It is the collective product of each of 

our individual actions—every action, every day.  It is only by carefully reflecting on our actions, 

taking individual responsibility for them, and constantly striving for better that we can address 

the shameful legacy we inherit.  We call on every member of our legal community to reflect on 

this moment and ask ourselves how we may work together to eradicate racism.   

As we lean in to do this hard and necessary work, may we also remember to support our black 

colleagues by lifting their voices.  Listening to and acknowledging their experiences will enrich 

and inform our shared cause of dismantling systemic racism. 

We go by the title of “Justice” and we reaffirm our deepest level of commitment to achieving 

justice by ending racism.  We urge you to join us in these efforts.  This is our moral imperative. 

Sincerely, 

Debra L. Stephens, 

Chief Justice 

Susan Owens, Justice 

Mary I. Yu, Justice 

Charles W. Johnson, 

Justice 

Steven C. González, 

Justice 

Raquel Montoya-Lewis, 

Justice 

Barbara A. Madsen, 

Justice  

Sheryl Gordon McCloud, 

Justice 

G. Helen Whitener, Justice
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RCW 49.60.180 

Unfair practices of employers. 

It is an unfair practice for any employer: 

(1) To refuse to hire any person because of age, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, race, creed, 
color, national origin, citizenship or immigration status, honorably discharged veteran or military 
status, or the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability or the use of a trained dog 
guide or service animal by a person with a disability, unless based upon a bona fide occupational 
qualification: PROVIDED, That the prohibition against discrimination because of such disability 
shall not apply if the particular disability prevents the proper performance of the particular worker 
involved: PROVIDED, That this section shall not be construed to require an employer to establish 
employment goals or quotas based on sexual orientation. 

(2) To discharge or bar any person from employment because of age, sex, marital status, sexual 
orientation, race, creed, color, national origin, citizenship or immigration status, honorably 
discharged veteran or military status, or the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability 
or the use of a trained dog guide or service animal by a person with a disability. 

(3) To discriminate against any person in compensation or in other terms or conditions of 
employment because of age, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, race, creed, color, national 
origin, citizenship or immigration status, honorably discharged veteran or military status, or the 
presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability or the use of a trained dog guide or service 
animal by a person with a disability: PROVIDED, That it shall not be an unfair practice for an 
employer to segregate washrooms or locker facilities on the basis of sex, or to base other terms 
and conditions of employment on the sex of employees where the commission by regulation or 
ruling in a particular instance has found the employment practice to be appropriate for the practical 
realization of equality of opportunity between the sexes. 

(4) To print, or circulate, or cause to be printed or circulated any statement, advertisement, or 
publication, or to use any form of application for employment, or to make any inquiry in 
connection with prospective employment, which expresses any limitation, specification, or 
discrimination as to age, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, race, creed, color, national origin, 
citizenship or immigration status, honorably discharged veteran or military status, or the presence 
of any sensory, mental, or physical disability or the use of a trained dog guide or service animal 
by a person with a disability, or any intent to make any such limitation, specification, or 
discrimination, unless based upon a bona fide occupational qualification: PROVIDED, Nothing 
contained herein shall prohibit advertising in a foreign language. 

 

 

 

 



RCW49.60.210 

Unfair practices—Discrimination against person opposing unfair practice—Retaliation against 
whistleblower. 

(1) It is an unfair practice for any employer, employment agency, labor union, or other person to 
discharge, expel, or otherwise discriminate against any person because he or she has opposed any 
practices forbidden by this chapter, or because he or she has filed a charge, testified, or assisted in 
any proceeding under this chapter. 

(2) It is an unfair practice for a government agency or government manager or supervisor to 
retaliate against a whistleblower as defined in chapter 42.40 RCW. 

(3) It is an unfair practice for any employer, employment agency, labor union, government agency, 
government manager, or government supervisor to discharge, expel, discriminate, or otherwise 
retaliate against an individual assisting with an office of fraud and accountability investigation 
under RCW 74.04.012, unless the individual has willfully disregarded the truth in providing 
information to the office. 
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